

Implementing evidencebased programmes in children's services: key issues for success

Meg Wiggins, Helen Austerberry & Harriet Ward

Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre



Table of Contents

		Page	
Execu	utive Summary	4	
1.	Purpose of report	8	
2.	Policy Background	8	
3.	Methodology	9	
Section	on 1 – Successful Implementation of Evidence-based Programmes		
4.	Assessing the evidence: finding the right programme to implement	11	
5.	Common principles to follow: a framework for implementation	12	
6.	Alternative models for implementation of evidence-based practice	18	
7.	Barriers and facilitators in the implementation of evidence-based practice	20	
8.	Sustainability	22	
9.	Scaling up an evidence-based intervention	24	
10.	Conclusion	26	
Section	on 2: Implementation lessons from specific evidence-based programm	es	
Exam	ple 1: Functional Family Therapy	e evidence: finding the right programme to	
Exam	ple 2: Multisystemic Therapy	31	
Exam	ple 3: Multi-dimensional Treatment Foster Care	37	
Exam	ple 4: KEEP foster carer programme	42	
Apper	ndix A	45	
	References		

The Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre was commissioned by the Department for Education to carry out this review between October 2011 and June 2012. The views expressed in this report are the authors' and do not necessarily reflect those of the Department for Education.

The Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre is an independent research centre with funding from the Department for Education. It is a partnership between the Thomas Coram Research Unit (TCRU) and other centres at the Institute of Education, the Centre for Child and Family Research (CCFR) at Loughborough University and the Personal Social Services Research Unit (PSSRU) at the University of Kent.

Meg Wiggins is a Senior Research Officer at the Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London. Helen Austerberry is a Research Officer at the Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education. Professor Harriet Ward is director of the Centre for Child and Family Research at Loughborough University and co-director of the Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre.

Acknowledgments:

We would like to thank: Jane Barlow, Jacqueline Barnes, Karen Blase, Martin Eccles, John Fluke, Fran Fonseca, and Tom Jefford for allowing us to consult with them for this report. Thank you to John Fluke, James Whittaker, Helen Jones and Jenny Gray for reviewing drafts of this document.

Audience

People who are not familiar with evidence-based programmes and are interested in understanding the issues related to implementing model programmes.

Executive Summary

Aims and objectives:

This report brings together the latest international thinking about the key issues relating to the implementation of evidence-based programmes, utilising both published work and expert opinion. The aim is to provide a summary of issues that should be considered and planned for by those about to start implementing a new programme in order to increase the chances of success; to draw attention to sources of further information; and to share lessons that have been learned by others when implementing similar programmes.

Key findings:

A model for implementation

Evidence suggests that a carefully planned and well-resourced implementation is key to better outcomes and programme success. Across disciplines, implementation researchers have devised a number of frameworks that can be used to encourage the best practice in implementation and greatest fidelity to the original programme. One of the best known of these implementation frameworks, primarily focused on social or educational programmes, was developed by Fixsen and colleagues (2005). This framework takes the view that to implement innovative programmes, change is required at the practitioner, supervisory and administrative support levels, as well as at the system level. The authors suggest there are four key stages to implementation: exploration and adoption; installation; initial implementation and full operation. These are shown graphically in the diagram below, together with two additional stages highlighted in the literature: sustainability and scale up.

Stage 1: Exploration and adoption

Implementation is boosted by the selection of the most appropriate programme for a local area. Consideration should be given to exploring the findings from previous evaluations of the programme and asking the following questions: who received the services? What programme elements were actually delivered? Were achievements sufficient to justify costs? Can similar resourcing levels be provided locally?

Once a programme has been selected, implementation is aided by setting up a local implementation team, to determine what local changes will be required to adopt the programme. Programmes have been found to be more effective if the local model remains faithful to the original programme design. Fixsen and colleagues advocate the use of purveyors - individuals or groups who work in a systematic way with local sites to ensure that

they adopt a pure and effective model of the programme. Clear support from senior managers provides leadership and demonstrates commitment to the programme and can ensure that there are adequate resources for start-up and implementation.

Diagram One: Implementing evidence-based programmes: Six key stages

Programme exploration & adoption

- Select appropriate programme
- •Set up implementation team & link with purveyor
- Determine required local changes
- •Gain leadership support

Installation

- Develop systems to select, train & coach staff
- Secure start-up funding and on-going resources
- Develop organisational support systems (policies, procedures, monitoring, referral pathways)

Early implementation

- · Initiate staff coaching, programme monitoring
- Use programme data to monitor progress and improve staff competency and confidence

Full operation

- Evaluate programme for fidelity and outcomes
- Assess resource use
- Consider programme adaptations

Sustainability

- Assess programme appropriateness for sustainability
- Provide evidence of effectiveness and fidelity
- Assess levels of resources required
- Consider political support
- Secure long term sources of funding

Scale-up

- Assess programme appropriateness for scale-up
- Determine level of resource and political support available for scale-up
- •Select model for scale-up
- Configure implementation team for scale-up

Stage 2: Installation

The programme installation stage is when structures are put in place to initiate the new practice. In this stage systems should be set up to select, train and coach practitioners in the new programme. Funding should be secured and organisational support systems put in place (policies, procedures, referral pathways).

Greater success can be achieved by putting systems in place to ensure fidelity; these should include clear delegation of this responsibility to specific staff, regular supervision and staff evaluation.

Stage 3: Initial implementation

In this stage, the implementation team addresses all the challenges that change brings to individual staff and the organisation, at a time when the workforce is gaining new skills. The team must focus particularly on coaching and using data to improve staff competence and confidence, change administrative procedures and manage expectations.

Stage 4: Full operation

Over time the innovation becomes "accepted practice", staff are fully competent and new ways of working become routine. Implementation teams monitor programme fidelity and outcomes, with on-going systems in place (e.g. staff training and supervision, fidelity monitoring) to maintain a favourable organisational climate and a skilled and committed workforce.

Challenges to implementation

Implementation researchers have identified key areas for decision-makers in agencies delivering services to consider and work on in order to implement successfully evidence-based practice in a way that maintains a high degree of fidelity to the intervention model whilst valuing practice-based knowledge. These include:

- The attitude of providers;
- Characteristics of the client population;
- Characteristics of usual practice;
- Organisation factors leadership; and
- Resource availability.

Sustainability

Four components have been identified as crucial to maintaining a successful programme: capacity; the nature of the innovation; evaluation and monitoring of fidelity; and the context. Securing longer term funding relies on being able to demonstrate cost effectiveness, promoting a 'shared vision' about an innovation, and ensuring that local commissioners of services and other key local professionals value the programme and see it as enhancing local service provision and improved outcomes.

Sustainability is enhanced when a programme has been able to develop a stable group of skilled practitioners, who have a positive attitude towards the programme. Also key to sustainability are an organisational culture and structure that foster the new practices.

Scale-up

Following the successful implementation of an evidence-based programme in a new setting, the next stage for policy makers is to decide whether, and how, to effectively broaden its reach. This might be through scaling-up capacity within the original local area where a programme was previously implemented, or it may be through increasing the number of sites across a region or country. Three different examples of scaling-up evidence-based programmes are described: the Cascading training model, Community Development Team model; and Rolling cohort model.

International examples of implementation

This report also explores experiences of implementing four evidence-based programmes: Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST), Functional Family Therapy (FFT), Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC), and the KEEP foster carers programme. The international experience of transferring these programmes from their original settings to England as well as to a number of other countries underlines that it is possible to successfully implement them in a different cultural context. Innovative solutions have been found to overcome cultural differences, language barriers, and different system structures.

Some programme sites have however found implementation and/or the replication of original success unachievable; and in other sites programmes have been successfully implemented but found to be unsustainable when reliant on local funding.

1. Purpose of report

This report has been written for policy makers, senior managers and those who commission children's services to provide evidence to help them as they consider ways of implementing evidence-based programmes into their own local areas. It brings together the latest international thinking about the key issues relating to the implementation of evidence-based programmes, utilising both published work and expert opinion. The aim is to provide a summary of issues that should be considered and planned for by those about to start implementing a new programme in order to increase the chances of success; to draw attention to sources of further information; and to share lessons that have been learned by others trying to implement similar programmes. Some of these issues are common to implementing any change in any organisation, others are specific to the programme being implemented.

There are two sections in this report. The first draws together the evidence and highlights common themes concerning successful implementation of evidence-based interventions. The second section explores experiences of implementing a number of specific evidence-based programmes, including Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST), Functional Family Therapy (FFT), Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC), and KEEP foster carer training from countries, including England, where implementation is already ongoing. These four programmes are described in the box on page 10. The lessons from the implementation of these four programmes are reflected in the common themes discussed in the first section of the report.

2. Policy background

In parts of the devolved administrations in the UK there is an increasing trend towards promoting the adoption of programmes that have been rigorously evaluated and come with a strong evidence base for effectiveness. The two Allen Reports on Early Intervention (Allen 2011a and 2011b) recommend the review, development and dissemination of rigorously evaluated evidence-based programmes as a means of improving the quality of Early Years services. The first Allen report identifies 19 'top programmes' that should be implemented in England, and suggests roles for both national and local policy makers in ensuring such services are commissioned. The second report suggests ways that such programmes might be supported through public and private funding innovations. The Munro Review of Child

Protection (Munro 2011) focuses on the need for practitioners to draw on evidence of the effectiveness of methods and supporting practice in their work with children and families. Additionally, the recent overview of the key messages from 15 research programmes focussing on identifying and responding to child maltreatment (Davies and Ward 2012) recommends implementing multi-faceted evidence-based programmes to respond to abuse and neglect.

Across disciplines there are many examples of programmes that have been rigorously evaluated and shown to be effective in their original setting, but less successful when set up and trialled elsewhere. Sometimes this reduced effectiveness appears to be related to a cultural mismatch in terms of the programme content, but often there are issues relating to its implementation in the new setting that influence how and what is delivered.

In response to such situations, over the last ten years especially, there has been growing interest and global academic focus on the issues relating to the successful implementation of evidence-based practice across a range of fields. A Global Implementation Conference is now being convened biennally (www.implementationconference.org) and journals are available specialising in implementation issues (e.g. Implementation Science). Social care interventions, including those relating to reducing the incidence and effects of child abuse and neglect, have been part of this emerging focus. For instance, recently a special issue of the journal Research on Social Work Practice was devoted to implementation research (2009, Issue19).

From this burgeoning discipline, a key message can be distilled: 'effective implementation is associated with better outcomes' (Durlak & DuPre 2008). This definitive statement is based on a systematic review and meta-analyses of nearly 500 studies of implementation. It showed that when there was careful implementation without major problems, effect sizes were at least twice as great as for studies where these conditions did not exist (Durlak & DuPre 2008).

3. Methodology

The methodology used to compile this report consisted of a literature review undertaken initially using snowballing techniques following the identification of key experts in the field. This was followed by a systematic search of electronic databases (medline, web of knowledge; Google scholar) for previous reviews of implementation studies. For the second section of the report, electronic database searches were carried out for published academic

papers relating to the MST, FFT, MTFC, and KEEP programmes, with further Google searches to locate unpublished literature (e.g. conference presentations, newsletters, annual reports) relating to the implementation of these programmes. Overall more than 120 published papers and 43 conference abstracts informed this report. In order to accommodate the range of unpublished literature that is difficult to access, and to clarify points from the literature, telephone discussions were held with five UK experts (researchers and programme implementers). A further three international experts reviewed drafts of this report and offered suggestions about additional literature and issues to consider.

	Intervention	Programme support
Functional Family Therapy (FFT)	Family-focussed behavioural therapy for young people with a history of offending/high-risk behaviour. Average of 12 one-hour therapy sessions over 3 months.	 Initial and booster training for on-site supervisors & therapists Manuals for treatment, training & supervision Ongoing web-based monitoring of clinical fidelity
Multi- systemic Therapy (MST)	Intensive family and community based therapeutic support targeting young people with serious conduct problems and offending histories. Round-the-clock support for 3- 6 months, with multiple therapeutic contacts averaging 2 – 15 hours a week.	 Orientation and booster training for clinical staff and supervisors Manualisation of programme components Weekly clinical supervision Monitoring of programme fidelity
Multi- dimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC)	Range of intensive foster care programmes for children and young people with serious conduct problems, tailored to pre-school/infants, to primary age children and to adolescents. Placement for 6-9 months with specially trained foster parents, and regular therapeutic support to the child/young person and their birth family.	 Orientation training for programme staff and supervisors Foster carer training Weekly consultation with programme supervisors Monitoring of programme fidelity
KEEP: Keeping Foster and Kinship Parents Supported and Trained	A 16-week structured course of training, supervision, and support in behaviour management methods for groups of foster or kinship carers of children aged 5 -12 years.	 On-site training of programme staff Manual to support implementation Weekly phone supervision for one year

SECTION 1: Successful implementation of evidence-based programmes

4. Assessing the evidence: finding the right programme to implement

The Allen Report (2011a) highlighted programmes with top level research evidence, and other promising interventions. This report recommended the formation of an Early Intervention Foundation, which would provide an ongoing review of the most rigorously evaluated programmes. In the absence of such a body, a number of sources are available to policy makers that provide an assessment of the range and quality of the research evidence about specific programmes. These include, for instance:

- Washington State Institute on Public Policy (http://www.wsipp.wa.gov/) which
 provides cost-benefit analyses of evidence-based child welfare programmes that are
 widely used by US policy makers (Whittaker 2009);
- The systematic reviews of the Campbell Collaboration
 <u>www.campbellcollaboration.org/</u> especially those of their 'Social Welfare Co ordinating Group' which produces, maintains and disseminates systematic reviews
 about social care; and
- The systematic reviews of the Cochrane Collaboration <u>www.cochrane.org/</u>, notably those of their EPOC group which reviews interventions to improve professional practice and delivery of effective health services.

Commissioners should assess whether the evidence that exists suggests the programme could work with their local population, and with the existing agencies, referral structures and resources available. It is worth checking whether a programme has been shown to be effective when conducted by a group other than the programme developers and when carried out in different settings. Are the conditions in which the programme has previously been shown to be effective too far removed from a real-world setting? (See box on the following page for further questions to consider).

In England, especially in the multi-cultural communities in urban areas, it is also worth considering whether a programme will need to be implemented for some families with the assistance of interpreters and if so, how this might change both the therapeutic and organisational aspects of the programme. The Family Nurse Partnership programme in England has successfully managed to incorporate interpreters into their practice, a change

from the original programme delivered in the US, but has noted that that this has impacted on programme delivery with fewer topics covered, less client engagement and potentially less of a 'strengths-based focus' (Barnes 2011).

Questions for decision makers to ask when looking at the evaluations of programmes they are considering implementing:

- 1. Is the evaluation design strong enough to produce trustworthy evidence? Was there a comparison group? Was the evaluation carried out by independent experts? Has this study been assessed by other researchers (e.g. have the findings been published in a peer-reviewed journal?)
- 2. What programme services were actually received by participants and comparison groups? What was achievable in a real world setting?
- 3. How much impact did the programme have? Are these impacts the ones that are relevant to you?
- 4. Do the programme's benefits exceed its costs? In your context, would the required costs be justifiable for the effects that have been achieved?
- 5. How similar are the programmes, children, young people and families in the study to those in your constituency or community? *If different, is there any evidence that the effects found in the study could be transferred to a community such as yours?*

(Adapted from National Forum on Early Childhood Program Evaluation 2007)

Further information on assessing the strength of evidence can be found in the appendices of this document prepared by the Institute of Education Sciences in the US: *Identifying and Implementing Educational Practices Supported By Rigorous Evidence: A User Friendly Guide* (2003).

5. Common principles to follow: a framework for successful implementation

Once a programme has been selected, then the planning process for implementation should begin. Across disciplines, implementation researchers have devised a number of frameworks that can be used to encourage the best practice in implementation and greatest fidelity to the original programme. One of the best known of these implementation frameworks, primarily focused on social or educational programmes, was developed by Fixsen and colleagues, following a systematic review of implementation research across a number of fields (2005). We describe below the background and key components of their framework.

'In human services, the practitioner is the intervention' (Fixsen et al 2009, p.532). In order to implement evidence-based programmes successfully in typical human service settings, such

as children's services, the core components have to be built into the daily performance of thousands of practitioners in the diversity of provider organisations functioning within different types of service systems. Successful implementation of evidence-based programmes in children's services settings, as with other educational or welfare services, is therefore a much more challenging process than introducing efficacious pharmaceutical products, for example, or effective computer systems. On average it takes two to four years to fully establish evidence based programmes in a community (Fixsen 2005).

Many experts consider that a sustained and *active* process of implementation is required to achieve high fidelity with what has been proven to benefit users (Fixsen et al 2009, p.532 quoting Greenhalgh et al 2004). Fixsen and colleagues (2009) suggest that what is required is for outside experts (purveyors) to work with organisations, systems and practitioners in order to transform a variable, practitioner-centred service to one that is programme-centred and evidence-based. The quality of the implementation process and its outcomes exists independently of the quality of the programme or practice being implemented. Both are key to producing and maintaining better services.

Fixsen and colleagues (2009, p.533) propose a framework to create and support high fidelity practitioner behaviour that is composed of the following *integrated* core implementation drivers, which we outline in turn:

- Staff recruitment and selection;
- Pre-service training;
- Consultation and coaching;
- Staff performance evaluation;
- Decision support data systems;
- Facilitative 'administrative' (management) support; and
- Systems interventions.

They conceptualise staff selection, training, coaching and evaluation as competency drivers; whereas decision support data systems, facilitative administration and systems interventions are considered organisational drivers. These competency and organisational drivers reinforce each other and have been shown to be much more effective in implementing and sustaining programmes when used together (Joyce and Showers 2002). Innovative programmes require change at the practitioner, supervisory and administrative support levels, as well as at the system level. Change to one core driver requires adjustments to the others. Feedback from staff performance evaluation and decision support data systems informs what changes are required to other elements of the framework, and keeps the

programme on track in a context of organisational change. These implementation drivers are also compensatory – if the process is designed to be strong in one component, this can compensate for relative weakness in another area, yet still maintain high fidelity implementation.

Competency driver: staff recruitment and selection

Staff should be recruited and selected in a way that takes account of academic qualifications, experience and practitioner characteristics, especially those that are difficult to teach in training sessions, such as empathy or a sense of social justice. Careful staff selection is especially important in programmes with specific and complex practitioner requirements and less so in more straightforward programmes, such as those designed for volunteer staff. It helps when the staff selected are willing and able to be fully involved in the intervention and are positive about it. Staff selection intersects with a variety of larger systems, e.g. the availability of a suitable workforce.

Competency driver: pre-service and in-service training

Pre-service and in-service training are key to learning new approaches and new skills in a safe training environment. Training should include theory and discussion, combined with demonstration, practice and feedback. However, the evidence shows that training and information dissemination by themselves are ineffective as an implementation strategy (Fixsen 2009). It is important therefore that they are introduced alongside ongoing coaching on the job and other components of an integrated implementation framework.

Competency driver: coaching and consultation

Research conducted in the field of leadership development suggests that on-the-job coaching is an effective way to drive behaviour change within an organisation (e.g. de Vries & Manfred 2005). A coach helps key practitioners, managers and support staff learn the skills that the innovation requires and refine what they have learnt in training within their daily practice with service users, by providing advice, encouragement and feedback to staff employing the skills inherent to the innovation being implemented. The coach acts as a leader at an individual, team and organisational level to drive change. Fixsen's implementation strategy prescribes coaching both at the outset and throughout the life of the intervention.

Competency driver: staff performance evaluation

The purpose of staff evaluation is twofold. Firstly, it helps ensure that the new programme is successful with its users. It provides feedback to practitioners to enable them to improve their effectiveness. Evaluation also provides feedback to the staff who are supporting the implementation process, such as trainers, managers and purveyors. It enables them to improve selection, training and coaching procedures. Staff performance evaluation should include measures of programme fidelity in order to help staff supporting the implementation process to stay on track. It could also include aspects relating to staff satisfaction, practice change, and the perceived impact of the programme.

Organisational driver: decision support data systems

Other data which measure the performance of the organisation (such as consumer outcome data and quality improvement data) can be used to guide policy and practice-level decisions to help the organisation improve continuously. As with staff evaluation, these process and outcome data can be used to help maintain fidelity to the programme and ensure the implementation process is sustained in an effective way.

Organisational driver: facilitative 'administrative¹' (management) support

Having facilitative support from senior managers provides leadership for the implementation process and demonstrates commitment to it, for example through setting explicit goals. It also helps to have leadership support 'to align policies, procedures, structures, culture and climate' (Fixsen et al 2009, p.535) to ensure practitioners have the skills and resources to work effectively with clients.

Organisational driver: systems interventions

Systems intervention strategies ensure that the resources required to support practitioners' work are available from external systems, including resources for start-up and the additional costs associated with the maintenance of a programme that remains faithful to its evidence base.

Stages of implementation

Fixsen and colleagues (2005) define four implementation stages:

exploration and adoption;

-

¹ 'Administrative', in this case, is the US definition which refers to the senior managers (the Administration) who oversee an organisation, rather than secretarial support (Blase K, personal communication 2012)

- installation;
- initial implementation; and
- full operation.

Implementation is not a linear process, as the stages overlap. Setbacks, or on-going problem solving, may require a return to earlier stages. Implementation is more likely to be successful where experienced purveyors work with local implementation teams throughout every stage of the process, because it is a challenging one (Blase et al In press). Each of these implementation teams is a group of individuals, made up of local decision-makers, managers and practitioners, who guide the implementation process from the exploration stage through to full implementation.

Roles of 'purveyors'

Purveyors are individuals or groups who work in a systematic way with local sites to ensure that they adopt a pure and effective model of that programme or practice (Blase et al 1984; Stetler et al 2006). Often purveyors are employed by the company who owns the programme, but some can be independent. Purveyors can be from the private, public or voluntary sector, with a variety of funding arrangements.

In the highly centralised version of the purveyor approach, the process of implementation is led by and consistently linked to the work of the external company or academic organisation that has developed and owns the intervention model. For example, the central company determines the staff selection criteria, trains practitioners from implementation sites at a central location and, in the early stages, at the implementation site, evaluates regular submissions of fidelity results, and provides regular consultation by telephone to programme supervisors and practitioners. The local site selects staff according to the criteria laid down, and provides administrative support. This centralised version has been used when implementing, for instance MST and FFT programmes in new sites in the USA and, with some modifications, in their international sites (Schoenwald et al 2000; Sexton and Turner 2010).

A less centralised approach is to develop regional implementation sites. The programme developers train and coach staff from the implementation site to act as purveyors. So each site implements the programme/practice without ongoing reliance on the external organisation. Procedures within each site must be developed to measure fidelity to each component of the implementation process. (An example of this approach is the Teaching-Family Model – Wolf et al 1995.)

Example: What is offered by the purveyors of MTFC at the start up of new sites (both in the USA and internationally)

- Site visit by the company that represents the developers of MTFC prior to implementation to explain model and implementation procedures to all stakeholders.
- Four-day training session for programme staff (five days for programme supervisors) at the US model site.
- Consultation re: foster carer recruitment, as needed.
- Two-day training of first group of foster carers on site.
- WebPDR (web-based parent daily report) procedures set up, with staff training.
- Weekly telephone consultation with programme supervisors to review cases.
- Periodic reports on implementation progress, staff performance and model adherence. The quarterly review codes videotapes of the site's weekly foster carer and clinical meetings for adherence to MTFC principles and procedures.
- Up to six days of additional on-site consultation.

After sites have developed confidence and competency in the model, other arrangements can be adopted. In England, for instance, after the first few years training has been provided by the English national team through their network partnership role.

(Sourced from the programme website: www.MTFC.com, March 2012)

Exploration and Adoption Stage

In this phase, purveyors guide local senior managers and practitioners in identifying programmes/practices that match identified need and resources. Purveyors ensure that local stakeholders understand what changes are required to implement the programme/practice and secure their commitment to it. Some programmes require that staff vote to adopt the programme as evidence of buy-in.

At this stage, implementation teams work with the organisational drivers to secure a favourable organisational culture and a 'hospitable funding environment' (Blase et al In press) and plan the competency drivers necessary to create a skilled workforce.

Installation Stage

The programme installation stage is when structures are put in place to initiate the new practice. *Competency drivers* are set up to best select, train and coach practitioners, *organisational drivers* set about securing start-up costs and on-going funding streams and changing systems to support the programme (for example, policies, procedures, referral mechanisms and computer systems), and leadership drivers work on changing the wider organisational culture.

Initial Implementation

In this stage, implementation teams must overcome barriers and address all the challenges that change brings to individual staff and the organisation, at a time when the workforce is gaining new skills. The team must focus particularly on coaching and using data to improve staff competence and confidence (competency drivers), change administrative procedures and manage expectations (organisational drivers). Leadership strategies maintain focus, enable stakeholders to identify and solve problems and avoid premature decisions about efficacy.

Full Operation

Over time the innovation becomes "accepted practice", staff are fully competent and new procedures become routine. At this stage the anticipated benefits of practising the programme with fidelity should be apparent (Fixsen et al 2005), and thus reinforce commitment at all levels to the evidence-based practice. Implementation teams monitor programme fidelity and outcomes, and implementation drivers maintain a favourable organisational climate and a skilled and committed workforce.

6. Alternative models for implementation of evidence-based practice

The framework devised by Fixsen and colleagues is considered by many to be the ideal for ensuring successful implementation of evidence-based programmes. However, this may not be possible to achieve in some situations. The two main areas of debate around this type of model are related to resource and programme fidelity issues, discussed in turn below.

Less resource intensive models

One key constraint to the uptake of the type of implementation framework discussed above is the lack of financial resources (McHugh et al 2009; Kazak et al 2010). Such a framework

would be difficult to follow if there were insufficient resources to support the additional costs of on-going training and of maintaining checks on programme fidelity through the use of purveyors. Additionally, high staff turnover is a common situation in both the voluntary and public sectors in the UK. While this is an inevitable part of these work systems, it needs to be taken into account when considering the implementation of evidence-based practice in children's services (Aarons et al 2011). For successful implementation, following the model framework discussed above, sufficient resource will be required to ensure that all new staff receive the same rigorous training in the programme practices as did those who were originally in post. In a financially constricted environment with the additional component of high staff turnover, this may prove challenging.

In response to the criticism and/or concerns relating to the on-going costs associated with carrying out a programme under formal licence with a programme developer, some programme developers are testing ways of adapting the relationship with implementation sites that still support programme fidelity. One example is the cascading model of training for KEEP (Chamberlain et al 2012), which is described on page 25 of this report. Some evidence-based programmes are usually carried out without the continued involvement of the original purveyor once training qualifications have been achieved, (for instance, the Webster Stratton parenting programme or Parent-Child Interaction Therapy). However, the implementers and researchers consulted for this report suggest that it is imperative that in a model that does not have a formal purveyor relationship, a site must instead have a staff member who has the explicit role of ensuring that implementation of the programme continues as it was originally intended. Without this role, formalised in a job description and explained to those practitioners being trained, programmes have a tendency to drift in terms of frequency and/or content of implementation.

Programme adaptation models

Some researchers and practitioners believe that an implementation model, such as the one from Fixsen and colleagues, which stresses fidelity to the original programme and puts in place systems to monitor and support this, is too prescriptive and impractical in complex settings such as those of children's services. They argue that it is inevitable that when an evidence-based programme is implemented it will need to be adapted to fit both the local population and the local service context (Murray et al 2010). However, to date there is less evidence that locally adapted models lead to successful implementation (Farmer et al 2010, Durlak & DuPre 2008). One recent UK example of this was the pilot Young People's Development Programme: this was based on the Carrera youth programme from the US

(Philliber 2002) but was heavily adapted for implementation in England, and was not able to replicate the positive outcomes of the original (Wiggins et al 2009).

Other researchers suggest preserving and remaining faithful to key components of the original evidence-based programme, but allowing room for 'contextually sensitive strategies to determine how the content will be configured' (Chorpita et al 2007; Garland et al 2008; Mitchell 2011). Mitchell (2011) suggests that a strategy for the implementation of evidence-based practice in children's services that integrates best available scientific evidence with professional expertise and client values is likely to be most successful in practice. She suggests that each has a particular contribution to make, which makes an integrated approach work well. Clinical science is often best placed to provide the contents or 'what' of therapeutic interventions, such as a cognitive or behavioural programme, whereas practice wisdom offers expertise concerning the 'how' of therapeutic interventions, such as taking a client-centred or relationship-based approach.

At the scaling-up phase, there are a number of alternatives to the single purvey or single programme models of dissemination that are being developed in the US (Whittaker 2009). One example that has been evaluated is the Project Prime Time programme, for young people with mental health problems who are repeat offenders, which is based on MST but has integrated components of other evidence-based therapeutic practices (http://www.ncmhjj.com/Blueprint/programs/PrimeTime.shtml).

Local implementers and researchers consulted for this report, as well as the examples of implementation in Section 2, suggest that in practice there are likely to be some adaptations made to evidence-based programmes. Adaptations that are planned in advance and in a dialogue with programme developers may be best in preserving positive programme outcomes (Durlak & DuPre 2008).

7. Barriers and facilitators in the implementation of evidence-based practice

Implementation researchers have identified a number of factors as key areas for decision-makers in service delivery agencies to consider and work on in order to successfully implement evidence-based practice in a way that maintains a high degree of fidelity to the intervention model whilst valuing practice-based knowledge ('practice wisdom') (Mitchell 2011). These highlighted factors are especially important for decision makers in children's services to address when new models of working are introduced. This is because these factors are most likely to have an impact on implementation in contexts where professionals

are working in diverse or difficult settings, where individual client-practitioner relationships are at the heart of the intervention, and where the intervention is language-based and/or where it is client-directed (Mitchell 2011; Larner 2009). In addition to addressing the following possible barriers and facilitators, decision-makers who are developing or enhancing their own site readiness processes may benefit from considering the items in the Implementation Checklist developed by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health (see Appendix A) to see if there are additional aspects of implementation they might usefully consider.

Attitudes of providers

The nature and quality of the practitioner's work is fundamental to successful evidence-based practice implementation within children's and other welfare services, so the practitioner's attitude towards the new initiative is key. Decision-makers must address practitioner scepticism and encourage them to feel committed to the new practice. Practitioners are most likely to be sceptical about the value of adopting programmes where they are working in complex front-line settings, and they are being asked to adopt new interventions that research has found to be effective for particular conditions or uniform groups in controlled settings (Larner 2004; Weisz et al 2006).

Characteristics of the client population

Practitioners may feel justified in deviating from intervention guidelines when they work with clients with complex conditions living in chaotic or conflict-ridden environments, where the context is not directly targeted by the intervention, where clients' cognitive abilities or lack of co-operation mean they are unable or unwilling to follow prescriptive guidelines, or where the intervention is directed by the client (Godley et al 2001; Hogue et al 2008).

Unless project managers have anticipated potential adaptations of this nature, new intervention models can be undermined by ad-hoc changes to new protocols made by individual practitioners in these circumstances.

Characteristics of usual practice

Implementation appears to be more successful where practitioners see that an evidence-based programme is compatible with current practice, or where they recognise that innovation will facilitate existing practice, for example by adding structure to it (Aarons & Sawitzky 2006; Mitchell 2011). In contrast, settings that emphasise clinical freedom, autonomy of individual practitioners, diversity of practice and/or are strongly client-centred

may act as barriers to implementation of evidence-based practice (Aarons & Palmer 2007; Godley et al 2001; and Miller & Duncan 2000).

Organisational factors

Just as a fit between current practice and an evidence-based innovation helps at the individual practitioner level, a fit between the aims of the organisation and the goals of the evidence-based practice facilitates implementation. Research focused on children and young people's services suggests that practitioners in open, flexible and risk-tolerant organisational cultures are more receptive to the introduction of evidence-based practice. There tends to be more use of evidence-based practice and programmes where management supports quality in practice and the organisational culture is performance-based. Positive leadership is essential to overcome setbacks, uncertainty and negative practitioner attitudes. Networking with other agencies and sharing information and ideas is associated with uptake of evidence-based practice (Henderson et al 2007 & 2008).

Resource availability

As described in the framework section above, effective implementation of evidence-based innovations requires extensive and sustained development of the workforce and of integrated systems and organisations that support the staff involved. This involves long-term investment of financial and other resources (Fixsen et al 2009; Mitchell 2011; Weisz et al 2003).

8. Sustainability

After a pilot phase of implementation, it is important for there to be an assessment of whether it is appropriate to continue with the new programme. This decision may be dependent on the programme's evaluation outcomes or costs, the level of appropriate potential service users and/or the political and resource context. There has been less empirical work on barriers and facilitators to sustaining the implementation of evidence-based programmes than on those that impact on their introduction (Greenhalgh et al 2004), and no key comprehensive conceptual model for sustainability of these types of programmes has been developed (Aarons et al 2011). A recent review by Stirman and colleagues of influences on the sustainability of new evidence-based programmes identifies four components to address: capacity; the nature of the innovation; evaluation and monitoring of fidelity; and the context (Stirman et al 2012). Elements within these components overlap so once in place they reinforce one another.

Capacity

Securing sufficient on-going financial resources is key to sustaining evidence-based programmes because the costs of ongoing training and certification by the owners of the intervention are often high. Evidence-based programmes in Europe are frequently instigated using central government funding, therefore in order to ensure that programmes are sustained often requires a shift from central government short term funding to new local and long term funding sources. Securing longer term funding relies on being able to demonstrate cost effectiveness, promoting a 'shared vision' about an innovation and ensuring that local commissioners of services and other key local professionals value the programme and see it as contributing to local service provision (Barnes 2010). It may be safer to secure funding from a range of sources, within the field of health and social care, to avoid reliance on one funder. For instance, funding for the continued implementation of a programme could come from the budgets of social care, mental health and youth offending. An additional potential benefit of such multiple funders is that each can act as a source of clients for the programme.

It is important to build a stable group of skilled practitioners, who have a positive attitude to the programme (Stirman et al 2012); to ensure that there is an ongoing training programme and adequate supervision for staff (Stirman et al 2012; Scheirer et al 2008); and to ensure that the organisation has the expertise within the workforce to ensure that the necessary components are in place to sustain the programme (Scheirer 2005). Additionally, Aarons and colleagues (2010) suggest that sustainability is enhanced when a critical mass of staff within an organisation and across a service system are all delivering a particular programme.

Nature of the programme

There needs to be an understanding of how the programme fits into the range of provision within the department or sector. Characteristics of some programmes make them more sustainable than others. Programmes that fit closely with the mission and culture of the wider organisation are more likely to be supported by other managers and staff within the organisation. Programmes may be more sustainable if they have a degree of flexibility so they can be modified to fit the changing requirements of the local context (Stirman & Scheirer 2005).

Sustainability is facilitated where the benefits of a programme to service users and staff are obvious (Scheirer 2005). Where the programme is more resource-intensive in the short-term when compared with other provision, evidence of its efficacy in the local context may act as an incentive to spread elements of the programme within the wider service, and this would

help to embed it. It is beneficial to integrate the evidence-based approach into the core operations of an organisation (routine practice) rather than operate it as a 'stand alone' service (Scheirer 2005).

Evaluation and monitoring of fidelity

It is important that the programme is rigorously evaluated in the local context, rather than relying on evaluations done in other settings. This provides evidence that the programme can work effectively in a setting other than the one it was originated in. Also it is important to keep track of wider reviews of the programme, or similar initiatives, within the UK context, and of other evaluations particularly within children's services, to assess whether this programme remains the most relevant for your local context. Programme fidelity should be monitored through audit, feedback and building 'triggers' (conditions that must be met before actions can take place) into the process of care (Stirman et al 2012).

Context

A policy context and future strategy within children's services that supports a programme and its outcomes is key to sustainability, as are an organisational culture and structure that foster the new practices. Having an effective local champion may help, who can take a lead in planning for sustainability, and promote the programme within the organisation or local authority and to stakeholders in other organisations or elsewhere in the local authority (Scheirer 2008).

9. Scaling up an evidence-based intervention

Following the successful implementation of an evidence-based programme in a new setting, the next stage for policy makers is to decide whether, and how, to effectively broaden its reach. This might be through scaling-up capacity within the original local area where a programme was previously implemented, or it may be through increasing the number of sites across a region or country.

Scaling up can be complicated by the fact that organisations or local authorities which were 'early adopters' are likely to have greater infrastructural or organisational interest and capacity for an evidence-based programme than those which were not part of the initial implementation (Chamberlain et al 2008).

There are key questions to be addressed prior to scaling up an intervention to determine organisational 'readiness'. For instance:

- Who is going to manage the overall programme to ensure consistency and fidelity?
- Are the resources in place for a wider roll-out not only financial resources but also people with appropriate skill sets, administrative structures, organisational capacity?

There is a wide literature on how to scale-up evidence-based interventions. Much of this focuses on health innovations (e.g. national programmes for new family planning methods), or on the adoption of educational interventions in schools. At the University of North Carolina in the US, the State Implementation & Scaling-up of Evidence-based Practices (SISEP) Centre provides free materials relating to scale up (http://sisep.fpg.unc.edu/), which although focused on educational interventions, could prove helpful when considering broadening the scope of social care programmes.

Chamberlain and colleagues (2011) have described three different models of scaling up the MTFC and KEEP interventions, currently being carried out in the US and the UK. These include:

Cascading training model: The programme developers trained and supervised the staff within a new programme site (first wave); in a second wave at the new site, the programme training and direct supervision of staff was carried out by the first wave staff (thereby eliminating the direct involvement of the programme developers in staff training and supervision).

Community Development Team (CDT) model: Representatives from areas where a programme is operating meet regularly for information sharing, peer-to-peer exchanges about barriers to implementation, and support/feedback relating to problems (e.g. programme fidelity or sustainability).

Rolling cohort model: A central implementation team for MTFC was established in England and initial local authority sites implemented the programme. Subsequently, lessons learned from implementation in the first sites, were used 'to assist in the implementation of MTFC in subsequent sites during successive yearly cohorts.'

All three of these scale-up models were devised in a partnership between the research developers and the communities in which they are being implemented. As a result, they take into account the local policy and practice needs, but also remain faithful to the components that are considered to be the key drivers of positive outcomes. Such collaboration can support both the fidelity to the original programme and its sustainability in a large scale-up of an initiative.

10. Conclusion

It is important that before selection, evidence-based programmes are explored for the best fit for the local context and clinical expertise. Following this, the decision to adopt a programme must have both policy and practice engagement. At this stage consideration should be given to how the proposed evidence-based programme could affect the organisation's processes and provider goals. Once the decision is made there will need to be a phase of preparation for ensuring systems are in place for training, supervision and fidelity, as well as for the recruitment of new staff or redeployment of current staff. During the implementation phase, in addition to the on-going support and fidelity monitoring, an evaluation should be undertaken of the new processes being introduced and staff and user views of them. Sustainability of the programme depends on a commitment to ongoing funding and continued staff training and monitoring.

The international experience of implementing four key evidence-based programmes for children and young people, highlighted in the second section of this report, underlines the importance of careful planning and an expectation that it will take considerable time and resources to embed these programmes. Innovative solutions have been found to overcome cultural differences, language barriers, and different system structures. There are examples of very successful replication of the original programme's positive outcomes in new settings. Despite this, some programme sites have found implementation and/or the replication of original success unachievable; and, in other sites programmes have been successfully implemented but found to be unsustainable when reliant on mainstream funding.

In summary, a thoughtful, planned, and well-resourced implementation is key to implementation achievement – no matter which model is followed. It is not enough to just insert an evidence-based programme into complex local children's services and expect success.

SECTION 2: Implementation lessons from specific evidence-based programmes

Four evidence-based programmes that provide interventions with young people with multiple, complex problems are described in this section. The lessons learned in implementing each of these programmes in different settings are spelled out. Each of these four programmes is currently being implemented in parts of the UK. These programmes were selected for this report to be representative of the range of evidence-based programmes that provide interventions for young people with extensive needs. Other examples could include: Parent-Child Interaction Therapy (PCIT) (Gallagher 2003), Cognitive Behaviour Therapy, and The Incredible Years (Gardner et al 2006).

Example 1: Functional Family Therapy (FFT)

Origin: FFT was developed in the USA by Dr. James Alexander (University of Utah) in 1972.

The programme

FFT is a family therapy intervention for young people (10 – 18 years) with a strong history of offending (or violent, behavioural, school and conduct problems). It focuses on family behavioural therapy held over a three month period, with between eight and 30 one-hour sessions (average 12 sessions). FFT can be delivered in a variety of settings – home, juvenile court, institution or clinic. FFT therapists come from a range of professional backgrounds (such as mental health workers, probation officers and behavioural therapists), carry a caseload of about 12 to 15 families, and are supported by a team of colleagues (usually three to eight), each with their own caseload of FFT clients.

"The main elements include engagement and motivation of the family in treatment, problemsolving and behaviour change through parent-training and communication-training, and seeking to generalise change from specific behaviours to positively influence interactions both within the family and with community agencies such as schools." (Gordon 1995)

FFT is one of the most frequently used evidence-based programmes for families: there are over 270 programmes, treating 12,000 young people annually (FFTinc.com).

US evaluations of the programme

The first FFT efficacy study was published in 1973 (Alexander and Parsons). This was a randomised controlled trial (RCT) carried out with 86 US juvenile 'status' offenders (i.e. those who had committed acts that were illegal for their age, such as alcohol consumption). FFT was offered using therapists who were graduate students at the University of Utah and they were supervised by the programme developers. The comparison was made between FFT and three control groups (client-centred family groups; psychodynamic family treatment; no treatment). At six months follow up, there was significantly reduced status offending (53%) and improved family communication in the FFT group, but no significant reduction in criminal offending. These positive results were replicated in a further quasi-experimental efficacy study that included serious juvenile criminal offenders (Barton et al 1985) who showed a 57% decrease in criminal activity compared with a matched control group at 15-month follow up. Similarly, a trial by Gordon and colleagues (1988) showed decreased recidivism of 84% in a group of juvenile status and criminal offenders compared with a matched control group 2.5 years post recruitment.

The most recent and largest RCT of FFT was carried out with 917 young offenders (Sexton & Thomas 2010). The programme was offered by community therapists, employed by community providers in 14 counties in the US. When compared with a control group of young offenders who received standard probation services, there was no significant difference in offending a year after the intervention ended. However, there were significant differences when those young people whose therapists adhered most closely to the FFT model were compared with the control group: these findings showed a reduction in felonies (35%), violent crimes (30%) and misdemeanour recidivisms (21%).

Two published US studies of FFT with populations of substance-abusing young people have not shown significant differences between FFT and control group young people (Friedman 1989; Waldron 2001).

Implementation lessons from US studies

Programme fidelity

A high level of competence by FFT therapists in delivering the model faithfully has been shown to be critical to the success of the programme when delivered in community settings (Sexton & Thomas 2010; Barnoski 2003) Deviation from the intended model has led to higher recidivism. In response to these issues of programme fidelity and competence of

therapists, the developers of FFT have created manuals for treatment, training and supervision of the programme. Additionally, they offer a web-based application to monitor 'highly structured FFT therapist notes, as well as supervisor and client ratings of therapist competence'. There is extensive training during the initial stages of set-up, training of onsite supervisors and booster training (FFTinc.com).

Scaling up

Zazzali and colleagues (2007) report the findings of a study that focused on the roll out of FFT in a sample of 13 mental health service organizations in New York. The purpose of the study was to identify lessons from this initial implementation that could be applied in the future, to both FFT and other evidence-based programme implementation. Administrators were interviewed to gain their perspectives about adopting and implementing FFT in their organisations. Barriers to implementation raised included:

- Information Technology: organisational IT infrastructure and the ability of staff to use computers;
- Referrals of clients: difficulties in identifying a steady stream of clients of the right age group who met the selection criteria for FFT;
- Training of FFT Clinicians: the expense of subsequent re-training or induction of replacement staff;
- A perceived lack of fit between organizational context and characteristics of the FFT model as they understood it;
- *The 'somewhat burdensome'* documentation requirements of FFT, particularly when combined with existing clinic and/or county paperwork;
- The expected fidelity to the model: clinician or agency difficulty accepting key tenets of the model and/or the desire to offer additional services to complement FFT, even though this deviated from the model;
- Differing expectations of the intervention prior to implementation: the time and financial commitments were greater than expected;
- Unrealistic expectations of external stakeholder groups (e.g. the family court who
 controlled referrals to provider organizations) of what the model could achieve within a
 limited time frame; and
- A need for cultural adaptation to the wider social needs of their specific clients and families.

International implementation: FFT has been implemented in New Zealand, Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Belgium and England.

Implementation in the Netherlands

Breuk and colleagues (2006) describe the implementation of FFT in a Dutch psychiatric day-treatment centre. The initial challenge was seen as addressing the difference between the then current medical approach based on diagnosing individual risk factors in both juveniles and parents, and a family approach such as FFT, which aims to reduce blame while maintaining responsibility and focusing on client and family strengths. The solution adopted was the development of trust among the FFT consultant, local family therapists, and the psychiatric directors of the treatment facilities. This alliance was created through careful development of a joint vision of the project, with a focus on creating a strong implementation partnership.

A second challenge lay in obtaining staff acceptance of the implementation of an evidence-based model into a system with a pre-existing model in use. Several strategies were used to overcome this challenge: discussions of similarities and differences between FFT and the other model; early individual training of a key supervisor to become a clinical leader and advocate of FFT; slow systematic steps to start integrating parents and other staff in treatment to transform from an individual focus to a more comprehensive family approach.

In the Dutch context some cultural adjustments had to be made to FFT; for instance because of language barriers, training was slower and the trainer needed to invest significant time becoming familiar with the team and its language. Additionally, there were concerns about common therapist approaches in the US (e.g. the therapist frequently complimenting clients) that would not work well in the Netherlands and would be considered 'superficial and artificial'. As such a more direct approach was taken by FFT therapists in the Dutch programme. Additionally, an FFT training tape of therapy sessions with a Dutch family was developed which allowed team members and therapists to see FFT in use with a family of the culture in which it was being implemented.

Implementation in the UK

In the UK, FFT is currently being implemented in community youth offending services in Brighton. The programme is being evaluated through an RCT, the SAFE trial, being carried out by academics at the Institute of Psychiatry, Kings College London. This study aims to determine the effectiveness, cost-effectiveness and acceptability of FFT in a UK context.

Example 2. MST: Multisystemic Therapy

Origin: MST was developed in the US by academics Dr Scott Henggeler (Family Services Research Centre, University of South Carolina) and Dr Charles Borduin (University of Missouri).

The programme

Multisystemic Therapy (MST) is an intensive family and community based intervention that targets the multiple causes of serious conduct problems and offending in young people aged 12 -17. The programme aims to increase the skills of parents and caregivers and to change the behaviour of the young person. The MST therapist is on-call 24 hours a day, seven days a week and provides intensive support in homes, neighbourhoods, schools and communities, usually over a period of three to six months. The MST therapists are professionals who may come from a range of disciplines such as psychology, social work and family therapy. To allow for the multiple weekly contacts with the young person, family and community, which average two to 15 hours per week, the MST therapists hold small caseloads of four to six families.

US evaluations of the programme

Methodologically rigorous RCTs carried out in the US by the programme developers have shown MST to be significantly more successful than normal services in improving family relationships and reducing both the short and long-term rates of re-offending amongst serious young offenders (Henggeler et al 1986; Henggeler et al 1992; Henggeler et al 1993; Borduin et al 1995; and Henggeler et al 2002). Initial trials were carried out with doctoral students as therapists and the programme developers as supervisors; later trials were carried out using community practitioners and in community service organisations.

Implementation issues raised in the US evaluations

A number of the MST trials have provided evidence that fidelity to the programme leads to better results (Henggeler et al 1997). In response, the originators of MST have developed very strict treatment protocols and adoption criteria to the project. All MST programmes are licensed through MST Inc., University of South Carolina. The developers maintain rigorous training procedures and a high level of contact including weekly telephone consultations. There are MST manuals for both the organisation of the service and for supervision of the therapists. Fidelity is measured through the use of the MST Therapist Adherence Measure

(TAM), a 28-item questionnaire completed by parents at regular intervals during the intervention.

International implementation: MST has since been implemented in the UK, Australia, New Zealand, Canada, Denmark, Ireland, Netherlands, Norway, and Sweden.

Implementation in New Zealand

A benchmarking study of MST was recently undertaken in New Zealand, to determine how transferable the programme was to this different cultural context (Curtis et al 2009). This programme implementation and evaluation was publicly funded and carried out through mental health clinics with 65 young offenders. It found similar significant positive effects as the US studies relating to re-offending rates. The researchers deemed MST an intervention that was successfully transferrable to New Zealand and to a publicly funded community setting, but raised some implementation issues. Notably, although there were high participant completion rates in the programme, there was a high level of therapist and supervisor attrition. This was reported to have several causes: therapists finding it stressful to provide intensive support outside of normal working hours; extensive travel across wide geographical areas; difficulty adjusting to 'the rigorous quality assurance aspects of the program that demanded significant changes to their working routine (i.e., preparing for and attending weekly case supervision, therapy adherence, working primarily in the homes of families, ongoing and intensive outreach related to MST services amongst professionals and associated agencies' (Curtis et al 2009).

Implementation in Canada

In a trial to implement MST in Canada (Leschied and Cunningham 2002), the researchers found no significant differences between MST and the control group in terms of re-offending. They listed possible implementation issues that they think could impact on the effectiveness of MST implemented 'for real' in a community compared with the more artificial conditions of a government-funded research study:

- Most service programmes are not overseen by supervisors with doctorates (as they were in the original efficacy trials);
- Bonuses were given to some of the original therapists in early trials, but few agencies can financially compensate therapists for achieving good outcomes;
- Agencies cannot pay participants for cooperation with MST (as happened as an incentive for data collection in the research study);

- Community programs are funded at lower levels than large-scale research studies and constantly face the prospect of budget cuts;
- Many agencies are unionised, meaning that MST demands on therapists may conflict with previously negotiated working conditions;
- Without a research component, case outcomes are not usually monitored;
- Many small agencies cannot re-allocate the critical mass of three to eight therapists needed to create an MST team; and
- Training, consultation and licensing by MST Services Inc. are extremely expensive: such
 costs were borne by the government during the research study but would normally need
 to be absorbed by local agencies.

Implementation in Norway

In Norway an RCT of MST was carried out with 100 young people with serious antisocial behaviour. The programme was run in four community provider sites with community therapists. The trial showed a decrease in internalizing and externalizing symptoms, a decrease in out of home placements and increased social competence (Ogden & Halliday-Boykins 2004). The MST programme was scaled up across Norway. Ogden and colleagues (2008) have written about the implementation issues relating to bringing MST to a Norwegian context. Key barriers and the solutions they have used include:

System level barriers and strategies

- Barrier: The development and implementation of MST required either new funding or a shift in funding from existing resources.
- Strategy: National government viewed the use of MST as sensible and economical, based on demonstrated clinical and cost effectiveness in Norway. Specialised funding and expert consultation and training were provided by central government for countylevel agencies to deliver MST.
- Barrier: Changing the 'norms' of clinical practice.
- Strategy: MST Norway ensured wide media and press coverage about the programme, utilising expert opinion, researchers, politicians and satisfied families. Additionally it took care to generate local ownership through emphasizing prestige, convenience and satisfaction to promote local acceptance. The team also worked closely with criminal justice stakeholders (police, educators, community leaders).

- Barrier: Two Norwegian counties are extremely large and sparsely populated with isolated villages.
- Strategy: Additional teams were added and maximum time travel of therapists was
 extended from 1.5 to 2.5 hrs, with the location of an MST team between two of the
 largest towns in the county. This assured both appropriateness of referrals and
 consumer access to family-based services.
- Barrier: One system level barrier that Norwegian stakeholders have not been able to
 overcome is the lack of valid and reliable screening methods for determining a young
 person's risk level.
- Current strategy: an MST supervisor evaluates the referral and decides if the youth is appropriate for diversion into MST. MST supervisors usually take a liberal stance, using a limited number of exclusion criteria.

Practitioner level barriers and strategies

- Barrier: Language and cultural barriers.
- Strategy: Initially MST Norway translated the MST manual into Norwegian. More
 recently, the MST supervision and organizational protocols have also been translated
 and modified to specify the particular roles of Norwegian stakeholders.
- Barrier: When an evidence-based innovation is proposed, practitioners often cite cultural
 differences as a reason for deciding against adopting it. In Norway, 8% of the population
 are immigrants, and there is also a native subpopulation. The Sámi retain their own
 language and culture, with strong traditions in fishing, hunting, and reindeer herding.
- Strategy: Norwegian MST therapists reported few barriers to engaging ethnic minority families in MST treatment. They considered the nature of the treatment model as contributing to the adaptation to each family's cultural needs. However only 6% of MST cases were immigrant or Sámi families.
- Barrier: The shorter workday in Norway, combined with the lengthier travel distance has made the traditional pattern of MST delivery difficult in Norway.
- Strategy: MST Norway prescribed a lower caseload of three to four families per therapist
 (compared with four to six in the US) and negotiated with Norwegian labour unions to
 compensate MST therapists for working longer or anti-social hours. These changes
 increased the per client cost of MST in Norway.

- Barrier: The first generation of Norwegian MST supervisors were recruited on the basis
 of their managerial ability and some lacked the clinical skills needed to support MST
 implementation. A more general lack of necessary clinical training is also a problem
 throughout MST Norway.
- Strategy: MST Norway now uses more clinically oriented skills assessments to screen applicants. Additionally they have found that some therapist skill deficits can be compensated for through MST training and clinician development protocols.

Implementation in Sweden

A Swedish RCT of MST with 156 young people with conduct disorder found no significant differences in outcomes between the MST and control groups (Sundell et al 2008). The MST therapists were found to have lower fidelity scores than in other trials of the programme, despite following the rigorous training and supervision. The authors queried whether practical issues may have influenced the fidelity of the intervention: the use of language interpreters (nearly half the sample were not of Swedish origin); the education level of the therapist (bachelors degree rather than masters degree level in US); the poor ethnic match between therapists and families. Contextual factors may also have influenced implementation fidelity: the lack of a national initiative behind MST (as there had been in Norway); the low rates of residential care for the control group in this study, which made them less prone to risk than control groups in the US and Norway. Overall the authors thought 'these results highlight the importance of measuring and monitoring fidelity during transportation [of an evidence-based programme to a new setting], dissemination, and evaluation efforts.'

Implementation in England

A recent RCT of the MST programme in England was undertaken by Butler and colleagues (2011) at University College London. This trial was carried out with an ethnically diverse sample of 108 families who were randomized to either MST or usual supportive Youth Offending Team services. Young people were eligible if they were on a court referral order for treatment, a supervision order of at least three months' duration, or, following imprisonment, on licence in the community for at least six months. Participants were predominantly male, half were from Black or minority ethnic groups, and on average they had committed more than two offences in the previous year (more than half of their convictions were for violent offences). Results showed that, compared with the control group, at 18 month follow up MST provided significantly reduced non-violent offending, youth-reported delinquency and parental reports of aggressive and delinquent behaviours.

The results suggest that there is scope for an MST intervention in addition to the existing multi-agency services on offer for young offenders in the UK. However, the researchers stressed the need for further examination of its cost-effectiveness, to determine that the costs of delivering the programme are justified by the results achieved.

Alongside this UK trial, qualitative interviews were carried out with both parents and young people assigned to MST, approximately three months after the intervention finished (Tighe et al 2012). These showed that the intervention was valued and acceptable to families in the UK, and that they credited it with improvements in offending and relationships between the parent and young person. The interviews found that in this study population there was a sense that the intervention had come to an end too abruptly or too soon for some. The researchers suggested that future implementation of MST might consider a longer intervention in certain cases, or some follow up sessions after the main intervention is completed (Tighe et al 2012).

Example 3. Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care (MTFC)

Origin: The MTFC model was established by Patricia Chamberlain and colleagues at the Oregon Social Learning Centre (OSLC) in 1983.

The programme:

MTFC for adolescents is an intensive foster care programme for young people who have engaged in serious, chronic anti-social behaviour, youth offending and conduct problems. MTFC is based on a social learning model, with specific techniques derived from behavioural therapy. The programme provides young people with a 'wrap-around' service of support which includes placement for six to nine months with specially trained foster parents, an individually tailored structured programme, weekly sessions with a behavioural therapist, support from an educational therapist and family therapy with the young person's birth family. 'Four key elements of treatment are targeted during placement and aftercare: (1) providing youth with a consistent reinforcing environment where he or she is mentored and encouraged to develop academic and positive living skills; (2) providing daily structure with clear expectations and limits, with well-specified consequences delivered in a teachingoriented manner; (3) providing close supervision of youth's whereabouts; and (4) helping youth to avoid deviant peer associations while providing them with the support and assistance needed to establish pro-social peer relationships.' (mtfc.com). The foster carers, who only have one foster child at a time, provide a daily report telephone check-in with the MTFC supervisor, who holds a maximum caseload of 10 young people. The aim of the programme is to return the young person to the birth family or to a long term placement. There are three versions of the programme: MTFC-A for adolescents aged 12-17; MTFC-C for children aged 7-11 years; and MTFC-P for younger children aged 3-6 years. This report discusses the findings for effectiveness and implementation for the adolescent version of MTFC.

US Evaluations of MTFC

Three RCTs testing the effectiveness of MTFC have been carried out by the programme developers in the US state of Oregon: one with 79 male chronic and serious young offenders and two with female chronic young offenders – one with 81 young women and the other with 85. (Chamberlain and Reid 1998; Chamberlain et al 2007; Kerr et al 2009) In each, the comparison group has been young people receiving the standard care of a placement in a residential care facility, and the MTFC intervention was carried out by community

practitioners who were managed by the programme developers. These trials found significant positive findings for those in MTFC: for young men there was a reduction in criminal charges and at two year follow up a reduction in violent recidivism and decreased delinquency (Eddy et al 2004). For young women in the MTFC group there were significantly reductions in the number of days in custody and decreased criminal charges at 1 and 2 years follow up, and in the second trial, a reduction in pregnancies.

Implementation issues raised in the US evaluations

The RCTs carried out in the US have all been amongst populations of primarily white young people, so they provide little evidence of effectiveness or implementation issues relating to other ethnic groups.

In an example of implementing MTFC in a community service setting, the Families First agency found that the greatest challenges lay around addressing cultural needs, finding funding to support the programme, and keeping the interest of an active pool of available foster parents while they were waiting for appropriate referrals (Foster Family-based Treatment Association 2008).

Wider implementation of MTFC programmes (both in the US and internationally) is supported by TFC Consultants, Inc., who ensure fidelity to the model through training, consultation and technical assistance. Currently the developers of MTFC are engaged in a large-scale RCT across 40 counties in the US state of California which aims 'to add to the understanding of "what it takes" to engage, motivate, and support counties to make the decision to adopt, conduct, and sustain a research based practice model.' (Chamberlain et al 2008). This involves a comparison of two different methods of implementing MTFC in community settings: the standard assistance package from TFC Consultants; and the standard package augmented by a community development team approach, where there is peer-to-peer support between agencies implementing the programme.

International implementation: MTFC is being implemented in New Zealand, Canada, Sweden, Norway, Denmark, the Netherlands, Ireland, England and Scotland.

Implementation in Sweden

The first RCT of MTFC outside the USA has recently been conducted in Sweden (Westermark et al 2011). The study included 35 young people with severe behavioural problems who were randomized to MTFC or treatment as usual groups. The sample included both young men and women, of whom a quarter were from an immigrant background. MTFC was provided by a newly formed community provider, Familjeforum AB.

At two-year follow up, both groups presented reduced symptoms in more or less all outcome variables. However, when compared to the treatment as usual group, MTFC young people showed a statistically greater symptom reduction relating to externalizing symptoms, psychiatric distress and depression. In terms of implementation of MTFC, nearly all the young people completed the programme (11% attrition) and foster carers were very positive about the MTFC manual – 'The availability of easily manageable "treatment tools" and 24 hour a day support, were two important reasons for the satisfaction of the families.' (Khyle Westermark et al 2007). Despite the overall positive rating of MTFC by foster carers, some were less engaged with the programme, finding the 'professionalisation' of the foster family uncomfortable and counter-intuitive.

Implementation in New Zealand

MTFC has been implemented through one community provider in New Zealand since 2009. In the first 18 months of implementation, 75% of participant young people were able to return to live in the community (with birth family, permanent foster family or independently). The programme has recently secured research funds to evaluate the effectiveness of MTFC in New Zealand via the Department of Internal Affairs (Youth Horizons 2011). The majority of participants come from the indigenous Maori culture, and the programme has been implemented with great attention to cultural sensitivity (Youth Horizons 2009). The programme has been adapted with the engagement and endorsement of Maori elders to make it more culturally appropriate; for instance, the family therapy component has been broadened to include extended family. In other ways it has remained faithful to the MTFC programme, with support from the OSLC team, and has recently achieved accreditation in the model. The programme developers (TFC consultants) attribute implementation success in New Zealand to:

- steadfast support from the local organisation's leadership (ensuring the right tone amongst staff and adequate resourcing);
- a programme supervisor who was dedicated to the fidelity of the treatment model;
- a mutual trust between the local organization and the programme developers, 'that allowed for open and honest communication, a willingness to reconsider established practices and a sense of common purpose';
- a group of very experienced foster carers, with long-term association with the local organisation;
- the 'involvement, approval and support of Maori leadership' (Youth Horizons 2011).

Implementation in England

The English programme is the largest MTFC programme outside the USA and the only national initiative in Europe. MTFCE is operating in 18 sites across England, with central funding provided by the Department for Education. The programme has been independently evaluated by the Universities of York and Manchester (Biehal et al 2012), using a small-scale RCT embedded into a larger non-randomised comparison study (34 young people aged 11 – 16 within RCT; 185 in non-randomised). This study found that the sample of young people with serious antisocial behaviour problems, for whom the programme is intended, had a significant reduction in behaviour problems and an increase in overall social adjustment. Those without anti-social behaviour problems fared better in usual care than in MTFC.

There have been a number of published lessons from the implementation of MTFC in England. Roberts (2007), who directs the English national implementation team, suggested that:

- The implementation of the programme was delayed in situations where local authorities
 experienced 'changes in senior management personnel, structural reorganisation,
 political emphasis, or financial imperatives'; and
- They experienced additional challenges once local programmes got underway. These included: 'changing financial priorities and concerns about budgets in the short term, the withdrawal of backing from hard pressed health partners, difficulties in recruiting and retaining appropriate foster carers, and lack of appropriate referrals of young people into the programme'.

Additional lessons included the need for strategic long-term planning if a new programme like MTFC is to be embedded into standard services. Utilising multi-agency partnerships and making sure that the programme is part of local strategies (e.g. the child and adolescent mental health strategy) are necessary steps to help plan for sustainability.

Kirton and Thomas (2011) reported findings from a qualitative study in one English local authority that was implementing MTFC. Thirty-one team members (foster carers, therapists, supervisors, management team workers) who had participated in the delivery of the model were interviewed. They reported that the perceived main strengths of implementing the OSLC model in England were the 'common language' that was given to all the members of the team and that it provided clear expectations for participating young people. The main

perceived limitations of the model were that some aspects were 'too American', that it would work for only some young people, and that it might not have longer-term benefits. They report that adaptations to the model, 'usually aimed at securing young people's engagement and motivation did not seem to have compromised the workings of the model in any significant way'.

The annual reports from the MFTCE Project report many key messages for implementation. The 2010 Annual report highlights, for instance:

- the differing needs of boys and girls who are being referred to the programme, which leads them to suggest a strategy of encouraging earlier referrals for girls;
- the benefits of timely, quality pre-placement assessments and taking a developmental perspective when positioning the young person for skills acquisition;
- early planning for post MTFC placements was considered to be 'vitally important to ensure timely decisions are made about children's futures';
- the strategic and operational linking with existing services health, education, social work – is key to effective working.

This national programme team suggests that the greatest challenges facing the programme are: sustaining MTFC programmes; post MTFC placement planning; and recruitment and retention of foster carers.

'It remains clear that evidence-based programmes such as MTFCE are not self-sustaining and, without continuing support, natural model drift would occur with the resulting reduction of model adherence and outcomes. National programmes in particular, where coherence of approach and shared learning are important aims, depend on having a system in place for monitoring implementation progress, and access to training and ongoing support in the implementation of the main tools of the programme'. (MTFCE Annual Report 2010)

Example 4. KEEP: Keeping Foster and Kinship Parents Supported and Trained

Origin: The KEEP programme was developed by Patricia Chamberlain and colleagues at the Oregon Social Learning Centre (OSLC) in the USA.

The programme: A 16-week structured course of training, supervision and support in behaviour management methods for groups of foster or kinship carers of children aged 5 -12 years. The training is conducted by a trained facilitator and co-facilitator team. There is a manual to support implementation. Content of the course includes: 'increasing use of positive reinforcement, consistent use of non-harsh discipline methods such as brief timeouts or privilege removal over short time spans (e.g. no playing video games for one hour, no bicycle riding until after dinner), and teaching foster parents the importance of close monitoring of the youngster's whereabouts and peer associations. In addition, strategies for avoiding power struggles, managing peer relationships, and improving success at school were also included.' (Price 2008) The course uses films and role play during the sessions. The programme is a less intensive version of the Multi-Treatment Foster Care (MTFC) intervention, following its key principles and theory, but without the 'whole team around the child' approach. Programme developers have provided the following inputs: on-site training of staff (five days); weekly phone supervision for one year; and 18 months of consultation.

US evaluations of the programme

The programme was originally evaluated via an RCT with 700 mainstream foster and kinship carers of 5-12 year olds (1999-2004). It was carried out with an ethnically diverse sample: 34% of the foster carers were kinship carers, 66% non-relative carers. The evaluation showed that being in the KEEP intervention nearly doubled the likelihood of achieving a positive placement change (reunification with biological parents, placement with relative, or adoption) and mitigated the negative effect of a history of multiple placements in foster care. (Price et al 2008). These results were measured 6.5 months after baseline, so were a short term follow-up; no long term follow-up was carried out. The study also showed a significant reduction in behaviour problems and an increase in foster carer use of behavioural management strategies. Families who reported a greater number of baseline child behaviour problems benefited more from intervention than those reporting fewer problems (Chamberlain et al 2008). Further evaluation in the USA of a KEEP pilot programme for specialized foster placements for children with behavioural problems, found a positive long term reduction in behavioural problems (Leathers 2011).

Implementation issues raised in US evaluation

The initial evaluation of KEEP in the USA raised a number of issues concerning implementation. Nearly 40% of those carers offered the training declined to participate. The carers taking part in the training missed 20% of the weekly group training sessions and had to have individual follow-up home visits. Process evaluation measured caregivers' engagement with the KEEP group intervention (as rated by trainers – a scale which included level of participation in the group, perceived satisfaction with the group, openness to information presented, and completed homework tasks). This found that for those caregivers who had higher engagement in group activities, there was greater benefit of the intervention for children at higher risk. Foster carer negative mood was predictive of increased risk of placement disruption. The authors suggest that future work might focus on ways of increasing group engagement as a means of maximizing the positive impact of the intervention (DeGarmo et al 2010). This evaluation also found that the group processes and engagement were potentially most effective amongst Hispanic foster carers.

As part of this study, the developers tested a cascading method of training the trainers of the foster carers, where the developers trained and closely supervised one set of trainers, who then went on to carefully train and closely supervise another cohort (Chamberlain et al 2008b). They found that outcomes of the KEEP programme were similarly positive when the developers of the programme were not involved in the training and supervision of the trainers.

International implementation: KEEP has since been implemented in England and Sweden.

Implementation in Sweden

The KEEP programme in Sweden is a collaboration between the INOM Familjeforum and the originators of the programme, the Oregon Social Learning Centre. Training of the staff team by personnel from OSLC took place in late 2010 and implementation of the training of carer groups is on-going. KEEP is offered to any foster carers of children in the 5 – 12 age range: the families involved are not pre-selected. Each session is filmed to monitor fidelity.

Implementation of the programme has meant that training materials have had to be translated into Swedish and culturally adapted. Additionally the films used in the group sessions have required a voice over and conversion so they can be streamed.

Implementation England

In England, implementation began in a two-year pilot in five local authority areas (2009-2011). The training for the English national programme was provided in September 2009 by the original Oregon team who devised it. Supervision was provided by staff at OSLC via telephone consultation. Fidelity monitoring and audit data has been collected. This has included information about the carers, the children in their care, attendance and engagement with the groups, carer ratings of the groups and measures of child behaviours. The Annual Project Report (2010) states that 'The KEEP groups have been enormously popular with carers and the audit results also demonstrate clear overall improvements in scores on the Parenting Scale, SDQ, and PDR measures with corresponding reported improvements in child behaviour difficulties, and carer stress.'

Implementation issues in the English sites

One of the original five sites dropped out after delivering their first group. Eight groups made up of 59 parents had been convened by the end of 2010: only two foster carers dropped out during the process and across the groups they achieved an average attendance of 88% during the 16 weeks of the programme. The highest number of 'make-up sessions' in carers homes (for those who missed the group session) were in week three of the programme, but attendance picked up again after this dip. The team in England considered that this underlined the importance of the 'make-up sessions' for keeping the intervention group on track. The monitoring and audit data reported from 2010 suggests that the implementation of the KEEP intervention in England appears to have been successful (with significant improvements in child behaviours and parenting styles pre/post intervention and very high satisfaction and learning scores from the carers).

Appendix A: Criteria for Implementation: a checklist

There are locally defined needs	☐ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
These needs include:			
The proposed method/programme can meet these needs The proposed method/programme includes:	□ Yes	□ No	□ Don't know
The method/programme is:			
• relevant	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
better than current methods	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
effective (evidence-based)	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
• cost-efficient	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
consistent with prevailing values and attitudes	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
• easy to use	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
possible to test on a small scale	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
 possible to adapt to local conditions without altering its central components. 	□ Yes	□ No	□ Don't know
Any risks there may be with the method can be dealt with.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
The results of the method can be quickly observed.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
Knowledge about the method can be generalised to other areas.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
The users have been involved at an early stage.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
Everyone involved is aware of the method and has access to continuous support in their daily work.	□ Yes	□ No	□ Don't know
There are resources in the form of time, money and staff.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
There are sufficient resources to provide training in the method for existing and new staff.	□ Yes	□ No	□ Don't know
There is an adequate and long-term budget.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
There are systems for monitoring and feedback.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
There is someone who will be responsible for supporting staff to maintain fidelity to the agreed method.	□ Yes	□ No	☐ Don't know
There are plans to hand over to the users for everyday use.	□ Yes	□No	☐ Don't know

Reproduced from: Guldbrandsson 2008, with minor adaptations by the authors of this report.

References

Aarons GA, Sawitzky AC. (2006) Organizational culture and climate and mental health provider attitudes toward evidence-based practice. *Psychological Services*, 3 (1): 61–72.

Aarons GA, Palinkas LA. (2007) Implementation of evidence-based practice in child welfare: Service provider perspectives. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services Research*, 34: 411–419.

Aarons GA, Glisson C, Hoagwood K, Landsverk J, Cafri G. (2010) Psychometric properties and United States national norms of the Evidence-Based Practice Attitude Scale (EBPAS). *Psychological Assessment*, 22 (2): 356–365.

Aarons G, Hulburt M, Horwitz SM. (2011) Advancing a conceptual model of evidence-based practice implementation in public service sectors. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 38: 4-23.

Allen G. (2011a) Early Intervention: The Next Steps. An Independent Report to Her Majesty's Government. London: HM Government.

Allen G. (2011b) Early Intervention: Smart Investment, Massive Savings. The Second Independent Report to Her Majesty's Government. London: HM Government.

Barnes J. (2010) From evidence-base to practice: implementation of the Nurse Family Partnership programme in England. *Journal of Children's Services*, 5 (4): 4-17.

Barnes J, Ball M, Niven L. (2011) Providing the Family–Nurse Partnership programme through interpreters in England. *Health and Social Care in the Community*,19 (4): 382–391.

Barnoski R. (2004) *Outcome evaluation of Washington State's Research-based programs for juvenile offenders.* Washington State Institute for Public Policy.

Biehal, N., Dixon, J., Parry, E., Sinclair, I., Green, J., Roberts, C., Kay, C., Rothwell, J., Kapadia, D. and Roby, A. (2012) The Care Placements Evaluation of Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care for Adolescents (MTFC-A)

Blase KA, Fixsen DL, Phillips EL. (1984) Residential treatment for troubled children: Developing service delivery systems. In S.C. Paine, G.T. Bellamy & B. Wilcox (Eds.), *Human services that work: From innovation to standard practice* (pp. 149-165). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing.

Blase KA, Van Dyke M, Fixsen DL, Bailey FW. (In press) Implementation Science: Key Concepts, Themes and Evidence for Practitioners in Educational Psychology. In B. Kelly & D. Perkins (Eds) Cambridge Handbook of Implementation Science for Psychology in Education: How to Promote Evidence Based Programmes and Practices. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Borduin CM, Mann BJ, Cone LT, Hengeller SW, Fucci BR, Blaske DM, Williams RA (1995) Multisystemic treatment of serious juvenile offenders: long-term prevention of criminality and violence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 63: 569-578.

Breuk R, Sexton T, van Dam A, Disse C, Doreleijers TAH, Slot WN, Rowland MK. (2006) The Implementation and the Cultural Adjustment of Functional Family Therapy in a Dutch Psychiatric Day-Treatment Centre. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 32 (4): 515–529.

Butler S, Baruch G, Hickey N, Fonagy P. (2011) A Randomized Controlled Trial of Multisystemic Therapy and a Statutory Therapeutic Intervention for Young Offenders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50 (12):1220-1235.

Chamberlain P. (2003) The Oregon multidimensional treatment foster care model: Features, outcomes, and progress in dissemination. In S. Schoenwald & S. Henggeler (Series Eds.) Moving

evidence-based treatments from the laboratory into clinical practice. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 10 (4): 303-312.

Chamberlain P, Brown CH, Saldana L, Reid J, Wang W, Marsenich L, Sosna T, Padgett C, Bouwman G. (2008) Engaging and recruiting counties in an experiment on implementing evidence-based practice in California. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 35 (4):, 250–260.

Chamberlain P, Leve LD, DeGarmo DS. (2007) Multidimensional foster care for girls in the juvenile justice system: 2 year follow up of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75: 187–193.

Chamberlain P, Price J, Reid J, Landsverk J. (2008b) Cascading Implementation of a Foster and Kinship Parent Intervention. *Child Welfare*, 87 (5): 27-48.

Chamberlain P, Reid JB. (1998) Comparison of two community alternatives to incarceration for chronic juvenile offenders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 66*: 624–633.

Chamberlain P, Roberts R, Jones H, Sosna T, Price JM. (2011) Three Collaborative Models for Scaling Up Evidence-Based Practices. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health*, 39 (4): 278-90.

Chorpita BF, Becker KD, Daleiden EL. (2007) Understanding the common elements of evidence-based practice: Misconceptions and clinical examples. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46 (5): 467–652.

Curtis NM, Heiblum N, Ronan KR, Crellin K. (2009) Dissemination & effectiveness of multisystemic treatment in New Zealand: A benchmarking study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23 (2): 119 – 129.

Davies C, Ward H. (2012) *Safeguarding Children Across Services: Messages from Research*. London and Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Durlak JA, DuPre EP. (2008) Implementation matters: a review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 41: 327–350.

Farmer EMZ, Burns BJ, Wagner HR, Murray M, Southerland DG. (2010) Enhancing "Usual Practice" Treatment Foster Care: Findings From a Randomized Trial on Improving Youths' Outcomes. *Psychiatric Services*, 61 (6): 555-561.

Fixsen D, Naoom SF, Blase KA, Friedman RM, Wallace F. (2005) *Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature.* Tampa, FL: University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National implementation Research Network.(FMHI Publication #231).

Fixsen D, Blase K, Naoom S, Wallace F. (2009) Core implementation components. *Research on Social Work Practice*. 19(5): 531.

Foster Family-based Treatment Association. (2008) *Implementing Evidence-based Practice in Treatment Foster Care: A Resource Guide.* Foster Family-based Treatment Association. Hackensack, NJ.

Gallagher N. (2003) Effects of Parent-Child Interaction Therapy on Young Children with Disruptive Behavior Disorders. *Bridges.*1 (4).

Gardner F, Burton J, Klimes I, (2006) Randomised controlled trial of a parenting intervention in the voluntary sector for reducing child conduct problems: outcomes and mechanisms of change. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*; 47 (11): 1123-32.

Garland AF, Hawley KM, Brookman-Frazee L, Hurlburt MS. (2008) Identifying common elements of evidence-based psychosocial treatments for children's disruptive behavior problems. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47 (5): 505–514.

Godley SH, White WL, Diamond G, Passetti L, Titus JC. (2001) Therapist reactions to manual-guided therapies for the treatment of adolescent marijuana users. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 8: 405–417.

Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. (2004) Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. *Milbank Quarterly*, 82(4): 581–629.

Guldbrandsson, K. (2008) From news to everyday use: The difficult art of implementation. Stockholm: Swedish National Institute of Public Health.

Henderson CE, Taxman FS, Young DW. (2008) A Rasch model analysis of evidence-based treatment practices used in the criminal justice system. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 93(1–2):163–175.

Henderson CE, Young DW, Jainchil N, Hawke J, Farkas S, Davis RM. (2007) Program use of effective drug abuse treatment practices for juvenile offenders. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 32: 279–290.

Henggeler SW, Clingempeel WG, Brondino MJ, Pickrel SG. (2002) Four-year follow-up of multisystemic therapy with substance abusing and substance-dependent juvenile offender. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41: 868-874.

Henggeler SW, Melton GB, Smith LA. (1992) Family preservation using multisystemic therapy: an effective alternative to incarcerating serious juvenile offenders. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 60: 953-961.

Henggeler SW, Melton GB, Smith LA, Schoenwald SK, Hanley JH. (1993) Family preservation using multisystemic treatment: long term follow-up to a clinical trial with serious juvenile offenders. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 2: 283-293.

Henggeler SW, Rodick J, Borduin CM, Hanson C, Watson S, Urey J. (1986) Multisystemic treatment of juvenile offenders: effects on adolescent behavior and family interaction. *Developmental Psychology*, 22: 132-141.

Henggeler SW, Sheidow AJ. (2012) Empirically supported family-based treatments of conduct disorder and delinquency in adolescents. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38 (1): 30-58.

Hogue A, Henderson CE, Dauber S, Barajas PC, Fried A, Liddle HA. (2008). Treatment adherence, competence, and outcome in individual and family therapy for adolescent behavior problems. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 4 (4): 544–555.

Institute of Education Science (2003): *Identifying and Implementing Educational Practices Supported By Rigorous Evidence: A User Friendly Guide.* Institute of Education Sciences, US Department of Education.

Joyce B, Showers B. (2002) *Student Achievement Through Staff Development*. Third Edition. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Kazak AE, Hoagwood K, Weisz JR, Hood K, Kratochwill TR, Vargas LA, Banez GA. (2010) A metasystems approach to evidence-based practice for children and adolescents. *American Psychologist*, 65 (2): 85–97.

Kirton D, Thomas C. (2011) A suitable case: Implementing multidimensional treatment foster care in an English local authority. *Adoption & Fostering*, 35 (2).

Kyhle Westermark P, Hansson K, Vinnerljung B. (2007) Foster parents in Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care: How do they deal with implementing standardized treatment components? *Children and Youth Services Review*, 29: 442–459.

Larner G. (2004) Family therapy and the politics of evidence. Journal of Family Therapy, 26:17-39.

Larner G. (2009) Integrating family therapy in adolescent depression: an ethical stance. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 31 (3): 213–232.

Leschied AW, Cunningham A. (2002) Seeking Effective Interventions for Serious Young Offenders: Interim Results of a Four-Year Randomized Study of Multisystemic Therapy in Ontario, Canada. London, ON: Centre for Children and Families in the Justice System.

McHugh RK, Murray HW, Barlow DH. (2009) Balancing fidelity and adaptation in the dissemination of empirically-supported treatments: The promise of transdiagnostic interventions. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 47: 946–953.

Miller SD, Duncan BL. (2000). Paradise lost: From model-driven to client-directed, outcome-informed clinical work. *Journal of Systemic Therapies*, 19 (1): 20–35.

Mitchell P. (2011) Evidence-based practice in real-world services for young people with complex needs: New opportunities suggested by recent implementation science. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 33: 207-216.

Munro E. (2011) *The Munro Review of Child Protection: Final Report: A child-centred system.* London: The Stationery Office.

Murray MM, Southerland D, Farmer EM, Ballentine K. (2010) Enhancing and Adapting Treatment Foster Care: Lessons Learned in Trying to Change Practice. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*. 19 (4): 393-403.

National Forum on Early Childhood Program Evaluation (2007). *Early Childhood Program Evaluations: A Decision-Maker's Guide*. http://www.developingchild.harvard.edu.

Ogden T, Halliday-Boykins CA. (2004) Multisystemic Treatment of Antisocial Adolescents in Norway: Replication of Clinical Outcomes Outside of the US. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 9 (2): 77–83.

Ogden T, Christensen B, Sheidow A, Holth P (2008) Bridging the gap between science and practice: the effective nationwide transport of MST programs in Norway. *Journal of Children and Adolescent Substance Abuse*, 17: 93-109.

Philliber S, Williams Kaye J, Herrling S, West E. (2002) Preventing pregnancy and improving health care access among teenagers: an evaluation of the Children's Aid Society-Carrera Program. *Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health*, 34 (5): 244-251.

Research on Social Work Practice. September 2009; 19 (5).

Roberts R. (2007) A New Approach to Meeting the Needs of Looked After Children Experiencing Difficulties: The Multidimensional Treatment Foster Care in England Project. ACAMH Occasional Papers No. 26, Fostering, Adoption and Alternative Care.

Scheirer MA. (2005) Is Sustainability Possible? A review and commentary on empirical studies of program sustainability. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 26: 320-347.

Scheirer MA, Hartling G, Hagerman D. (2008) Defining sustainability outcomes of health programs: Illustrations from an on-line survey. *Evaluation Programme Planning*, 32 (4): 335-346.

Sexton T, Turner CW. (2010) The effectiveness of functional family therapy for youth with behavioral problems in a community practice setting. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 24 (3): 339-48.

Stetler CB, Legro MW, Rycroft-Malone J, Bowman C, Curran G, Guihan M, et al. (2006). Role of 'external facilitation' in implementation of research findings: A qualitative evaluation of facilitation experiences in the Veterans Health Administration. *Implementation Science*, 1, DOI: 10.1186/1748-5908-1181-1123.

Stirman SW, Kimberley J, Cook N, Calloway A, Castro F, Charns M. (2012) The sustainability of new programs and innovations: a review of the empirical literature and recommendations for future research. *Implementation Science*, 7: 17.

Sundell K, Hansson K, Lofholm CA, Olsson T, Gustle LH, Kadesjo C. (2008) The Transportability of Multisystemic Therapy to Sweden: Short-Term Results From a Randomized Trial of Conduct-Disordered Youths. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22 (3): 550–560.

Tighe A, Pistrang N, Casdagli L, Baruch G, Butler S. (2012). Multisystemic Therapy for Young Offenders: Families' Experiences of Therapeutic Processes and Outcomes. *Journal of Family Psychology*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1037/a0027120.

Weisz JR, Jensen-Doss A, Hawley KM. (2006). Evidence-based youth psychotherapies versus usual clinical care: A meta-analysis of direct comparisons. *American Psychologist*, 61 (7): 671–689.

Weisz JR, Southam-Gerow MA, Gordis EB, Connor-Smith J. (2003) Primary and secondary control enhancement training for youth depression. In A. E. Kazdin, & J. R. Weisz (Eds.), *Evidence-based psychotherapies for children and adolescents* (pp. 165–183). New York: The Guilford Press.

Westermark PK, Hansson K, Olsson M. (2011) Multidimensional treatment foster care (MTFC): results from an independent replication. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 33: 20–41.

Whittaker JK. (2009). Evidence-Based Intervention and Services for High-Risk Youth: A North American Perspective on the Challenges of Integration for Policy, Practice and Research. *Child & Family Social Work*, 14: 166-177.

Wiggins M, Bonell C, Sawtell M, Austerberry H, Burchett H, Allen E, Strange V. (2009) Health outcomes of youth development programme in England: prospective matched comparison study *British Medical Journal*, 339: b2534.

Wolf MM, Kirigin KA, Fixsen DL, Blase KA, Braukmann CJ. (1995) The Teaching-Family Model: A case study in data-based program development and refinement (and dragon wrestling). *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 15: 11 - 68.

Youth Horizons. (2009) Landmark in Foster Care. Kia Puawai Newsletter, 5: 4-5.

Youth Horizons. (2011) MTFC Programme Accreditation Achieved. Kia Puawai Newsletter, 11: 4-6.

Zazzali JL, Sherbourne C, Hoagwood KE, Greene D, Bigley MF, Sexton TL. (2007) The Adoption and Implementation of and Evidence Based Practice in Child and Family Mental Health Services Organizations: A Pilot Study of Functional Family Therapy in New York State. *Administration and Policy* in *Mental Health* and *Mental Health Services Research*, 35:38–49.

Ref: DFE-RR245

ISBN: 978-1-78105-169-6

© Childhood Wellbeing Research Centre

September 2012